



Detection of Passive Intermodulation in Drop Wiring by Burst Transmission Analysis

Diodes are common, but the network resists

A Technical Paper prepared for SCTE by

Tom Williams

Distinguished Technologist Cable Television Laboratories Inc. 858 Coal Creek Cir. Louisville CO 303-661-3486 t.williams@cablelabs.com

Alberto Campos Fellow Cable Television Laboratories Inc. 858 Coal Creek Cir. Louisville CO 303 661 3377 a.campos@cablelabs.com

Larry Wolcott, Fellow, Comcast

Jason Rupe, Ph.D., CableLabs



<u>Title</u>



Table of Contents

Page Number

1.	Introduction	3
2.	Background	3
	2.1. Background on Nonlinear Distortion	3
	2.2. Background on CPD and PIM	7
3.	Lab Experiments	8
	3.1. FDX	3
	3.2. PNM	3
4.	Field tests1	3
5.	Detection Methods for Corrosion Diodes1	4
6.	Conclusion1	5
Ackno	owledgements1	5
Abbre	eviations1	5
Biblio	ography & References1	6
7.	Appendix1	7
	7.1. Appendix A Diode Equation for a I-V Curve	7
	7.2. Throbbing CPD Caused by Loose Seizure Screws	7
	7.3. Mathematics of nonlinear signals1	9

List of Figures

Title	Page Number
Figure 1 –Sine wave input applied to nonlinear circuit produces a distorted sine wave	4
Figure $2 - 2^{nd}$ and 3^{rd} order spectral components created by sine waves at f1 and f2	4
Figure 3 – Plots of fundamental, 2 nd and 3 rd order distortions vs fundamental RF levels.	5
Figure 4 – Non linear distortion	6
Figure 5 – Schottky Diode distortions	7
Figure 6 – CPD non linear distortions in downstream	8
Figure 7 – Circuit simulation of corrosion in a drop.	9
Figure 8 – OFDMA spectral plot	10
Figure 9 – OFDMA spectral plot (Shunting corrosion diode)	
Figure 10 – Cross -correlation plot	
Figure 11 – MER of OFDMA signal	
Figure 12 – 120 Hz CPD level vs. time.	
Figure 13 – Shunt resistance-nonlinear distortion	





1. Introduction

Home coaxial wiring and drop cable are expected to contain corrosion diodes created between dissimilar metals and metal oxides. Generally, corrosion diodes have not been a serious problem up to this point because continuous composite downstream radio frequency (RF) levels inside homes were not sufficient to force the corrosion diodes into hard conduction, which would create nonlinear distortion. DOCSIS® transmitted signals can be strong enough to force the corrosion diodes to conduct, but due to sub-split upstream frequencies, damage to downstream signals has been limited. It should be technically possible to automatically detect passive intermodulation (PIM) products at the headend due to their correlation with the main transmission and the spectral location of the nonlinear distortion. This paper discusses the mechanism for creating PIM in sub, mid and high split plant using orthogonal frequency division multiple access (OFDMA) transmissions. The paper also reports on PIM impairments created in our lab and analyzed using digital signal processing (DSP), discusses the potential impact of nonlinear noise on full duplex (FDX), and provides techniques to tackle this until now invisible plant impairment.

2. Background

2.1. Background on Nonlinear Distortion

Plant distortions can be separated into two categories: linear and nonlinear. Linear distortions consist of group delay, echoes, and channel ripple/tilt to name a few. Nonlinear distortions are created by mixing signals with themselves or other signals, and this mixing process creates energy at new frequencies. This distortion is also called intermodulation distortion (IMD). Cable plants have both types of distortions, and while linear distortion can generally be remedied with equalizers, nonlinear distortions are much harder to remove. Generally, it is best to avoid generating nonlinear distortions in the first place, if possible.

Mathematically, the input-output relationship of many devices can be described as a polynomial or Taylor series as shown below. More is explained in Appendix 8.3. $E_{out} = A \cdot E_{in} + B \cdot E_{in}^{2} + C \cdot E_{in}^{3} \dots$ (1)

 E_{out} is the composite output signal, E_{in} is a composite input signal, A is the gain, B is a coefficient for the second order distortion, and C is a third order coefficient. Additional higher-order coefficients typically exist and may not be ignored if input signal levels are large.

Figure 1 illustrates a transfer function modeled as a third order Taylor series. An input sine wave passes through a device with third order distortion, such as a push-pull amplifier. Most cable amplifiers are a push-pull design to cancel 2nd order distortions. In the figure, the resulting distorted output wave is illustrated as a red curve, while a desired undistorted amplifier waveform is black. The distance between the red curve and the black curve is the voltage of the distortion energy.







Figure 1 –Sine wave input applied to nonlinear circuit produces a distorted sine wave.

Figure 2 is a spectral plot of 2nd and 3rd order output products created by two sine waves, f1 and f2. Consider an input signal Ein comprised of just two sine waves, f1 and f2. They are mixed in a circuit with a transfer function with only 2nd and 3rd order distortions. Equation (1) may be expanded using trigonometric identities. Second order distortion products will be created at 2f1, 2f2, f1-f2, and f1+f2. Third order distortion products will be generated at 3f1, 3f2, 2f1-f2, 2f2-f1, 2f1+f2, and 2f2+f1.









Generally, higher order distortions than the 3rd order should be considered at high composite RF signal levels.

System designers use an intercept point diagram, as illustrated in Figure 3, to model nonlinear components. A plot is made of input signal level vs. output signal level, and the fundamental slope of that plot is the amplifier's gain. A second plot is made of 2nd order distortion level vs. input signal level, and that plot has a slope twice as steep as the fundamental due to the squared term in the Taylor series. Likewise, a third order distortion plot has a slope three times as steep as the fundamental due to the cube term in the Taylor series. If the 3rd order distortion line is extrapolated (red lines), it crosses the fundamental line at a point called IP3, or the 3rd order intercept point. This key number is used to predict expected distortion levels, and usually is specified on amplifier and mixer data sheets. Another point of interest on data sheets is the 1dB compression point, where the fundamental signal's output falls 1dB below its ideal level.



Figure 3 – Plots of fundamental, 2nd and 3rd order distortions vs fundamental RF levels.

In Figure 3, fundamental and 3rd order plot can be projected to find a third order intercept point. This method can be used to predict distortion levels in amplifiers or other nonlinear components. This projection graphing method applies also for corrosion diodes and shows how higher RF fundamental levels produce higher levels of nonlinear distortions.

For test purposes, cable engineers and technicians sometimes raise (or lower) plant levels by a decibel to identify if resulting nonlinear distortion energy goes up by 2 or 3 dB, identifying the distortion as 2nd or 3rd order. To properly perform this test, pilot signals must be held constant because amplifier automatic gain controls (AGCs) will attempt to change gain.

Typically, digital cable signals being transported have a flat spectral energy with an approximately rectangular spectral shape. An analysis method for nonlinear distortion is to use a double or triple frequency-domain convolution of the input signal with itself. This method is used because a convolution in the frequency domain is mathematically equivalent to a multiplication (e.g. squaring or cubing) in the





time domain, and vice-versa. Figure 4 illustrates the creation of 2nd and 3rd order nonlinear distortion products. The convolution of a rectangular spectrum with itself produces a triangular shape on a linear vertical scale occupying twice the original rectangular spectrum, while a triple convolution of a rectangular spectrum with itself produces a "haystack" shaped spectrum occupying three times the original rectangular spectrum. Figure 4 illustrates a relatively narrowband input OFDMA signal 70 MHz to 100 MHz (red) which creates 2nd and 3rd order distortion products. Distortion products are not drawn to scale for the sake of clarity. The more convolutions a rectangular signal undergoes, the wider its resulting nonlinear distortion spectrum gets.



Figure 4 – Non linear distortion

The spectral plot in Fig. 4 shows how a rectangular-shaped block of spectrally-flat energy, such as an OFDMA or OFDM spectrum (in red) produces nonlinear distortion products (in black). The vertical scale is linear. The 2nd order products employ as double convolution, producing a triangular-shaped spectrum. 3rd order distortion products create haystack-shaped spectral energy. Occupied bandwidth increases linearly with each higher order distortion coefficient and the distortion takes on a relatively "flat" spectrum. This is particularly true for wide transmitted rectangular (bandwidth) blocks.

The spectral photo in Figure 5 explains why we generally have not been affected by nonlinear distortion products with a sub-split frequency plan inside home wiring up to this point. If, for example, an ATDMA upstream single carrier transmission at 30 MHz is 6.4 MHz wide, the second order difference term is 0 MHz to 6.4 MHz yet cable upstream amplifiers do not pass energy below 5 MHz. The second order sum products will be 12.8 MHz wide centered at 60 MHz, so 2nd order distortion can affect downstream signals located between 53.6 MHz and 66.4 MHz but received signal degradation occurs only for the duration of a burst upstream transmission.





2nd	3	3.8 MHz A		nd		
			\int	'3rd	~	
	C1 113 diliv 203 Mit 331 d 					

Figure 5 – Schottky Diode distortions

Figure 5 is a lab experiment of a single carrier 6.4 MHz signal at 33.8 MHz being distorted by a Schottky diode producing 2nd and 3rd order distortions (lower plot). LeCroy DSO digital oscilloscope has a horizontal frequency range of 0 MHz to 200 MHz, and 10 dB/div is vertical scale. Upper plot is voltage vs. time, captured at 500 Msamples/second.

2.2. Background on CPD and PIM

CPD has long been a known impairment source for downstream cable plant. The distortion is created by corrosion diodes in cable plant, usually located in hard line plant where signal levels are large due to nearby line amplification. High level downstream signals produce nonlinear distortion in all bands, but the distortion is visible in the upstream band. [9]

PIM is a well-known impairment in wireless systems also caused by corrosion, and it sometimes occurs on RF feedlines. Because bandpass filtering is possible, the biggest concerns are third order distortions located just above, just below, and on the carrier. Both CPD and PIM are caused by corrosion diodes, and result in nonlinear distortions in RF. Therefore, CPD can be considered a subvariant of PIM, which is a generic term.

A question arises why CPD only seems to affect upstream signals, while it appears to have relatively flat spectral content. See Figure 6, which shows typical upstream and downstream carrier levels (per 6MHz) at the output of a downstream amplifier, which is also the input of an upstream amplifier. Assuming CPD is spectrally relatively flat, with a -40dBc distortion relative to downstream carriers each at +50 dBmV, upstream signals experience a 18dB carrier-to-noise ratio. This ratio is below the threshold for a 64-QAM upstream receiver.







Figure 6 – CPD non linear distortions in downstream

Figure 6 is a diagram explaining why CPD nonlinear distortion is seldom observed on downstream channels. As an example, in a 6 MHz band, if a downstream signal is at 50dBmV and creates a spectrally-flat CPD distortion -40dBc relative to the downstream carrier level at the output of a downstream amplifier, distortion power level is -10dBmV. So, it is relatively harmless to a downstream carrier. But an upstream carrier, attenuated by a flat loss of a 32dB tap, suffers a modulation error ratio (MER) degradation of only 18dB (28dB-10dB). This is below threshold and is a continuous impairment to all upstream signals in the node due to noise funneling.

One advantage that coaxial cable signals have over long term evolution (LTE) signals is cable composite signal levels are much lower, such as approximately 1-2 watts for cable versus 20 watts for cellular transmissions. However, cable plant has many more connectors relative to a cellular feedline and antenna. Cable downstream also employs uptilt, placing more energy into the higher frequencies. This design will cause some distortion components to land at higher frequencies, which hopefully are out of band.

3. Lab Experiments

It has been observed in lab experiments that a wide OFDMA transmission can produce relatively flat distortion energy over a wide band. If a strong signal, such as a wide OFDMA transmission, mixes with itself in a corrosion diode, a difference product will start at DC (0 HZ) and extend to the bandwidth of the OFDMA carrier with a triangular-shaped spectrum (viewed on a linear display). This is a 2nd order difference mixing product. However, if the OFDMA transmission mixes with another strong signal, such as a MoCA® transmission or a citizen band (CB) transmission ingress signal, a difference product will not be centered at direct current (DC), but at a difference frequency, as expected. For example, an OFDMA transmission centered at 200MHz can mix with a MoCA signal centered at 1150 MHz and produce interference centered at 950 MHZ, which is in a downstream frequency band. The 2nd order interference will be a convolution of the MoCA signal's spectrum with an OFDMA signal's spectrum.

A first test was to pass an ATDMA single carrier 6.4 MHz signal through a corrosion diode simulator circuit, with a Schottky diode. The spectral plot was previously illustrated in Figure 5, showing the





expected 2nd and 3rd order distortion products. This plot can be compared to Figure 4, which illustrates frequencies at which distortion products are expected.

The circuit used is illustrated in Figure 7 was used to produce upstream-only FDD distortion products. This circuit simulates corrosion in the outer conductor of a coaxial connection, such as a ground block. A shunt resistor's value was varied to increase the amount of distortion caused by the nonlinear 1N5711 Schottky diode with a given RF drive level. Two diplex filters were used to prevent downstream nonlinear distortion, which can potentially cause interference with the cable modem's (CM's) reception. The optional inductor was used to prevent DC bias on the diode and has very large inductive reactance at test frequencies.



Figure 7 – Circuit simulation of corrosion in a drop.

Figure 7 is a circuit used in the lab to simulate corrosion in a drop. Two mid-split diplexers were used with a mid-split diplexer to limit the effects of distortion to only the upstream signal. The CM operates on a mid-split frequency plan. The shunt resistor (R=) is varied to increase or decrease MER caused by the nonlinear diode. The meter function (M), which may be located at the headend, samples upstream energy which is distorted.

Figure 8 is a pair of plots obtained from a LeCroy HDO 6104-MS digital oscilloscope. The top plot is voltage vs. time, and the lower plot is a fast Fourier transform (FFT) of the time samples. The sample rate was 500 M-samples per second. The corrosion diode is shunted with 0 ohms and thus had no effect. The OFDMA transmission was almost continuous due to heavy data loading, and the occupied bandwidth was 40 MHz to 80 MHz. Note that there is negligible nonlinear distortion.





🛱 File	1 Vertical	🖶 Timeba	ise 🕇 Trig	gger 🖪 Displa	y 🖉 Curs	ors 🗄 Me	easure	🖬 Math	i⊨" An	alysis	🗙 Utilities	6 S	Support							
filiter;	ipaderitaderit ala	an a	and the standard		nurphold this of	in an a test and the second the second s	a naria	altributu.	ider tai	lindur	a-tutoritat	Land I.	nini shina kuji	Here I min	in ^d install	divitati	history	line in alti	r the state	international and the second
<u>ст</u> 1	ntala name and	an thuế có thể của	stantiniman dar	ul atur liit a scana lais. I	nor të the a bailt all	Landarateria	ul I. Iul ente	i, bilandades	ا الله مراسر	autori in la	ul da marinda karalan	ent colle àl.	didu at minas contra	ora Humada	iller konn karat.	an nanka k	ankan mila	ala bise. a		kalan akabian
+++		+ . 					- Participant	Terri Ju		in fitte	-(- +-++			T.		 -	l line i Alienti			
Sp.				ىلەرمىياتىرىغان قىلىغىناغىلىرىيى. ئىلاغىياتىرا بول قى مەرەپىيەر	Alarahan ang tang tang tang tang tang tang tan	dhahali pirata a farafa Ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang a	ðr		ļ											
10			10 IO				1		· ‡			1. i.								2 2 4
									Ī											
							1.	- F - F						-						
III to party at	Line of the state	with the parts	All and and a local					uter secolo		a th Mile a sheeped	a buck a straight of the		N. 494. YOM J. 12.	. Interference	Avrilated - Ave	Michael	a a a a a a a			to the second state
hand her made	vehille of hild the	direk on de tradición (Harris Ultransform				Thereas .	anthan putantan	tinter and the second s	daren ander	ka dibulan sa majatan	n feloren de ¹ ere -	andiyyanı Arstan	na stifficiation.	n second and a second s	orepression	engleithig a ghillin	utera pedrophiji	-yashiwakira	lynauw tellfyddolfydd a fyf er
									Ī											
C1	DC50 Spec/	n C1			55		d					to.				+	1	imebase	0.0 µs	rigger C4 DC
0.0 m	V/div V ofst	20.0 MHz 114 #															1	20. 00 kS 50 1= 234 ns	00 MS/s ΔX=	dge Negative
 Δv -	2.00 V 2.00 V 4.00 V ∆y	-															×	2= 124 ns	1/∆X=	-9 MHz
Utilities	Status	Remote	Hardcopy	Aux Output	Date/Time	Options														Close
\$	l		File Format	Compliant (ind				File	Name	20										
Printer PICTL	Clipbo	ard T	57 E 6 57 1	Compilant (.jpg				Dire	ectory	, y										
File	E-Ma	il	Colors Print					D:\	HardCop	ру∖					rowse					
			Print colors u background t	se a white o save toner/ink.								Hardo DSO I	opy Area Vindow			2.				e
TELEDYN	E LECROY																		2/10/20	21 6:56:38 AM

Figure 8 – OFDMA spectral plot

Figure 8 is a spectral plot of 40 MHz to 80 MHz OFDMA signal with R = 0 ohms (no corrosion diode effects). Top trace is voltage vs time, and bottom trace is dB magnitude vs. frequency. MER of 64-QAM OFDMA signal was an excellent 48.7 dB.

Figure 9 is a spectral plot with a shunt resistor value of 39 ohms, showing broadband distortion, notably sum and difference 2^{nd} order.





B File I Vertical ↔ Tim	ebasa 🏌 Trigger 📾 Display 🖋 Curs	ors 🗄 Measure 🖨 Math 🗠 Analy	sis 🕺 UBIB45 🛛 Bupport		
talionational oranian C	en den selven en de mensen en e	ander Hannen ander sone der sone ander Anteren anter sone anter sone anter		yaistini bayang panan danan y	aldar populations and distributed
2N	D ORDER DIFF.	OFDMA TRANSM		ORDER	
-	3RD ORDEF UNDER CAF	RIER			
100 vide 100 vide 0.0 vide 100 vide 0.0 miv dat 20 b M				Timutasu 800 k3 X1= 224 32= 124 (0 μεί 0 μεία 10 με
Utilites Status Remote	Hardcopy Aux Output Date/Time File Format	Options File Name		-	Close
Pantar Cliptoard	Colors Print	Directory Directory Directory		Drawse	
	Print colors use a white background to save tonerlink.		Hardcopy Area DBO Window		۲
TELEDYNE LECROY				in an and a second s	2/10/2021 7:06:50 AM

Figure 9 – OFDMA spectral plot (Shunting corrosion diode)

Figure 9 is a spectral plot of 40 MHz to 80 MHz OFDMA signal with R = 39 ohms (shunting corrosion diode). Transmit power was approximately 47 dBmV, and a MER of 64-QAM signal was 36.5dB. Observe wide spectrum of 2^{nd} order distortion of difference products (on left) and sum products (on right). 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} order distortions overlap with a wideband transmission.

Figure 10 is a cross correlation plot of 2nd order measured lab distortion with 'manufactured' distortion. This method was published in 2013 [6]. It uses the received OFDMA carrier to manufacture a 2nd order distortion signal. That distortion energy is cross correlated with the filtered received energy at a frequency where 2nd order distortion is expected. This testing method is practical because upstream triggered upstream spectrum capture (UTSC) can capture a signal with nonlinear distortion. This cross-correlation method can be used for 3rd order distortion but works best where the cross-correlation capture is performed in a vacant band, such as with an active-quiet probe measurement.







Figure 10 – Cross -correlation plot

Figure 10 is a cross-correlation plot of the filtered signal time domain signal (measured) illustrated in Figure 8 with a mathematically-created signal (manufactured) created by squaring the filtered time domain signal illustrated in Figure 8, top trace. See 2013 technical paper [6]. An impulse at zero time offset indicates significant energy is 2nd order distortion.

Figure 11 is a plot of modulation error ratio (MER) on a 40 MHz to 80 MHZ, 64QAM OFDMA transmission vs. shunt resistor value. Shunting the Schottky diode with a lower value resistor reduces distortion.







Figure 11 – MER of OFDMA signal

Figure 11 is a plot of MER of an OFDMA signal vs. shunt diode resistance, illustrated in Figure 6. When the shunt diode approaches zero, the corrosion diode is still present, but has no effect. A low value shunt resistance across a shunt diode is achieved by a high clamping force, achieved, for example, by a tight seizure screw or properly torqued housing bolts.

3.1. FDX

The process of PIM creation in FDX is going to be similar to FDD, but the lack of a diplex filter in the 108 MHz to 684 MHz FDX band means that distortion products can affect both upstream and downstream signals simultaneously.

Another concern is the adaptive equalizer in the fiber node won't be able to equalize non-linear distortion: it is designed to equalize linear distortion.

3.2. PNM

UTSC is essential in detecting anomalous US noise and distortion. Currently not all vendors implement this feature. Data should be in complex format for DSP. Furthermore, a UTSC capture needs to occur while a specific CM is transmitting at high power.

4. Field tests

CMs and cable modem termination systems (CMTSs) today are in some cases able to capture frequencies outside of their receiving ranges. Some CMs can capture low frequencies, and others can work in sub split mode on a mid-split or high split plant, etc. CMTSs can in some cases provide spectrum capture data (free run mode of upstream triggered spectrum capture or other means) for the downstream as well as upstream bands.





5. Detection Methods for Corrosion Diodes

Nonlinear distortion detection is a difficult problem because, in normal operation, upstream CM transmissions are brief RF bursts which are difficult for test equipment to capture (trigger on), and a source of which is generally difficult to identify.

A first detection method is to observe the MER for a particular CM's transmissions and compare them to the MER in transmissions from other CMs in the same node in approximately a same time period. Because of additive noise funneling, it is expected that all CMs in a fiber node should be experiencing a common noise background. However, a common noise background can vary with time. On the other hand, nonlinear distortion instantaneously follows the RF level of a transmission. A worse MER (relative to other subscribers in the node) could indicate nonlinear energy contamination in a signal path that a CM is using, but variable common background noise must be considered. An upstream MER test can be made on several CMs with nearly simultaneous upload speed tests at high RF power levels. This approach should yield a good indicator of homes with nonlinear distortion.

A second method is to look for distortion energy above the transmitter's frequency as a sum product or as harmonics. A challenge with this method occurs when the harmonics land in the downstream spectrum, which propagates away from the headend. Detection of nonlinear distortion in a CM on downstream caused by a CM's upstream transmissions may be considered a self-inflicted wound. However, using full band capture (FBC), if a CM can be forced into a speed test at a predictable transmit frequency, distortion energy may be observed either in a vacant band, or in the spectral null between two adjacent RF carriers. 2nd and 3rd harmonics can be observed with this method. A delta FBC plot can be made between CM transmitting and CM not transmitting.

A third method is to look for distortion energy below the transmitter's frequency, as a difference product. This method looks promising, but a UTSC needs to be done while a CM is at transmitting at high composite power levels. Testing needs to be initiated with a process such as a speed test, concurrent with a UTSC trace capture. It is expected that UTSC traces will contain 4096 in-phase and quadrature time samples.

A fourth method is to look for out-of-band energy that "follows" an RF transmission in time. Nonlinear distortion is created simultaneously with a transmission, so detection can be done in the time domain.

A fifth method is to plot a histogram of time domain voltage samples and look for non-symmetry, indicating signal clamping by a corrosion diode conducting. This method requires relatively severe clipping (distortion).

A sixth method is to analyze the MER error vectors in the OFDMA signal and correlate them with 3rd order distortion created from the error-free symbols. This requires the symbols in the OFDMA signal to not cross decision boundaries. [7]

Another method involving bonded upstream ATDMA signals is to get multiple upstream channels to transmit simultaneously from a single CM at high power. A block of three or four 6.4 MHz wide carriers can be approximately treated as one wide OFDMA-like block of random energy.

Distance ranging can be done to facilitate locating a corrosion diode in house. For example, the Optus (Australia) method using DSP can be employed using a test waveform such as a chirp signal. A display can show a technician TDR results for both linear and nonlinear distortions on the same screen. If timing matches, a linear discontinuity is the source of nonlinear distortion. This will speed troubleshooting.





The cable industry desperately needs functional, consistent, correct, upstream triggered spectrum capture capabilities. We don't yet generally have the ability to trigger an upstream spectrum capture for say a particular CM, which would be very helpful for finding PIM. Lacking that, we need alternate methods to identify and localize nonlinear impairments caused by upstream signals. Campos, Hamzeh, and Williams created a solution in 2013 [1]. Ultimately, capturing spectrum from a single CM transmitting would allow us to look for that PIM signature. If we are able to use UTSC to capture that signal, we could identify the distortion by the harmonics. If two narrow frequencies are transmitted, then a mixing product would reveal PIM if it appears. Note that two CMs transmitting at the same time, on two frequencies, could potentially create a mixing product in the plant, though that is less likely due to transmission loss leading to lower energy levels at potential points of corrosion diodes. Still, it may be possible, and may be found.

6. Conclusion

The question plant engineers have been asking is where are the corrosion diodes in my plant? A better question to ask is "where are the high value shunt resistors?" as very many junctions in the cable plant are candidates for a corrosion diode. A loose seizure screw is an example of how a shunt resistor may be created.

Calling a distortion-producing diode a PIM diode or a CPD diode is a relatively arbitrary distinction, as a single diode can be both a CPD diode producing upstream distortion, or a PIM diode producing downstream distortion. CPD is viewed as a subvariant or type of PIM.

For wide bandwidth transmissions, nonlinear distortion, particularly 3nd order, can be detected in adjacent frequency bands using UTSC, aided by a command to a CM to transmit a powerful signal, such as a speed test. An UTSC signal, captured as in-phase and quadrature component signals, can be processed to detect the presence of nonlinear distortions.

Clamping screws need to be correctly tightened to keep corrosion diodes shunted with low value resistors.

Acknowledgements

The authors of this paper would like to thank several people for their assistance with this work: Doug Jones, Sheldon Webster, James Lin, and Jay Zhu.

AGC	Automatic Gain Control
ATDMA	Advanced Time Division Multiple Access
CB	Citizens Band
CMTS	Cable Modem Termination System
DC	Directional Coupler
DSP	Digital Signal Processing
FBC	Full Band Capture
FDD	Frequency Division Duplex
FDX	Full Duplex
FFT	Fast Fourier Transform





IMD	Intermodulation Distortion
LTE	Long Term Evolution
MER	Modulation Error Ratio
OFDM	Orthogonal Frequency Division Multiplexing
OFDMA	Orthogonal Frequency Division Multiple Access
PIM	Passive Intermodulation
RF	Radio Frequency
TDR	Time Domain Reflectometer
UTSC	Upstream Triggered Spectrum Capture

Bibliography & References

[1] A. Campos, B. Hamzeh, T. Williams, "Testing for nonlinear distortion in cable networks," CableLabs Whitepaper 2013.

[2] R.Hranac, "Passive Device Intermod," Communications Technology, September 1998.

[3] E. Sapienza "Analysis of Passive Intermodulation in a Junction: Physical Simulation Models for Non-Linear Electrical Contacts" Master Thesis 2018-2019- Dept. of Electronics and Telecommunications, Politecnico di Torino

[4] H. Yang, H. Wen, Y. Qi and J. Fan, "An equivalent circuit model to analyze passive intermodulation of loose contact coaxial connectors", IEEE Transactions on Electromagnetic Compatibility, Vol.60, No 5, 2018.

[5] International Standard IEC 62037 RF connectors, connector cable assemblies and cables – Intermodulation level measurement, 1st edition

[6] Testing for Nonlinear Distortion in Cable Networks by A. Campos, B. Hamzeh, and T. Williams 2013 Cable Tech Expo.

[7] US pat. 11,184,202

[8] T. Williams, J. Rupe, "Common Path Distortion (CPD) in Cable Networks,"Journal of Network Operations, Vol. 4, No. 1, December 2018, available at https://wagtail-prod-storage.s3.amazonaws.com/documents/SCTE-ISBE-NOS Journal V4N1.pdf

[9] B. Patel, "Report on Common Path Distortions," Feb. 3, 1998, Dept.: Network Development.





7. Appendix

7.1. Appendix A Diode Equation for a I-V Curve

The I-V curve (diode characteristic curve) can be found by the following nonlinear equation. The equation is also known as ideal equation of a diode or diode law:

$$i = I_s(e^{\frac{qv}{kT}} - 1)$$

Where

i = Current flowing through the diode

Is = Reverse or dark saturation current (Typical value for silicon is 10^{-12} amperes)

e = Base of the natural logarithm (2.71828)

q = Charge on electron (1.602 x 10⁻¹⁹) in coulombs, which the absolute value of an electron charge.

v = applied voltage across the diode

k = Boltzmann's constant (1.380 x 10^{-23} joules/kelvin)

T = Absolute temperature in degrees Kelvin (room temperature is about 300 kelvin)

7.2. Throbbing CPD Caused by Loose Seizure Screws.

In Williams and Rupe, "Common Path Distortion in Cable Networks," [8], CPD is studied.

Instead of using two fixed CW carriers to implement the SCTE-109 CPD lab test procedure, if one (or both) of the two carriers is made tunable, the frequency of a returning CPD CW difference beat will also vary. The two downstream CW carriers are combined at the headend (or node insertion point) to make a headend 2-CW test signal. CPD in plant is revealed by the presence of the difference signal in the return band.

The difference signal is a 2^{nd} order impairment and was observed in 7 out of approximately 70 nodes. 3 of the nodes had a static difference product (CW), but 4 were dynamic.

In [8], dynamic upstream CPD on a sub-split plant was observed to go up and down in power level at a 120 Hz rate. This was observed in four nodes in the hub site containing approximately 70 nodes, so dynamic throbbing was about a 5.7% problem, and static CPD was also about a 4.3% problem. Two CW signals, one at 800 MHZ and one at 840.5 MHz, were applied at analog video carrier level into the downstream, and a modulated difference product at 40.5 MHz was observed. Figure 12 is a plot of RF level in dB vs. time, and repetition rate was 120 Hz. The spectrum analyzer's span was set for 0 Hz.

Fortunately, currently available CPD location gear detects both throbbing and static CPD.







Figure 12 – 120 Hz CPD level vs. time.

In the field the level of a 40.5 MHz CW distortion (difference) signal at was observed to vary at a 120 Hz rate. The 40.5 MHz CPD signal is a distortion product created by mixing 800 MHz and 840.5 MHz CWs.

Figure 13 is a diagram of a seizure mechanism, which is one possible way that 120 Hz modulated CPD can be created. At point "A," a resistive connection is made from a loose seizure screw, and several amperes of AC current are flowing to power amplifiers. This condition causes an AC voltage difference between the seizure screw and coax center conductor that is proportional to AC current. Nearby, at points "B," corrosion diodes are present. The corrosion diodes can only actively mix downstream signals while the AC voltage difference is small. Increasing clamping force makes the distortion disappear.







Figure 13 – Shunt resistance-nonlinear distortion

A diagram showing how a loose seizure screw creates a high value shunt resistance, which enables nonlinear distortion to occur.

7.3. Mathematics of nonlinear signals

To evaluate non-linear behavior up to a third order we represent the composite input E_{in} as:

$$E_{in} = \sin(\omega_1 t) + \sin(\omega_2 t) = \frac{e^{i\omega_1 t} - e^{-i\omega_1 t}}{2} + \frac{e^{i\omega_2 t} - e^{-i\omega_2 t}}{2}$$

where $\omega_1 = 2\pi f_1$ and $\omega_2 = 2\pi f_2$.

The composite output E_{out} is defined in equation 1 as:

$$E_{out} = \mathbf{A} \cdot E_{in} + B \cdot E_{in}^{2} + C \cdot E_{in}^{3}$$

Expanding the composite input signal

$$A \cdot E_{in} = A(\sin(\omega_1 t) + \sin(\omega_2 t)) = \frac{A}{2} \left(e^{i\omega_1 t} - e^{-i\omega_1 t} + e^{i\omega_2 t} - e^{-i\omega_2 t} \right)$$

Expanding the square of the composite input signal

$$B \cdot E_{in}^{2} = B(\sin(\omega_{1}t) + \sin(\omega_{2}t))^{2} = B((\sin(\omega_{1}t))^{2} + 2\sin(\omega_{1}t)\sin(\omega_{2}t) + (\sin(\omega_{2}t))^{2})$$
$$4E_{in}^{2} = (e^{i\omega_{1}t} - e^{-i\omega_{1}t})^{2} + 2(e^{i\omega_{1}t} - e^{-i\omega_{1}t})(e^{i\omega_{2}t} - e^{-i\omega_{2}t}) + (e^{i\omega_{2}t} - e^{-i\omega_{2}t})^{2}$$

$$4E_{in}^{2} = (e^{i2\omega_{1}t} - 2 + e^{-i2\omega_{1}t}) + 2(e^{i\omega_{2}t}e^{i\omega_{1}t} - e^{i\omega_{2}t}e^{-i\omega_{1}t} - e^{-i\omega_{2}t}e^{i\omega_{1}t} + e^{-i\omega_{2}t}e^{-i\omega_{1}t}) + (e^{i2\omega_{1}t} - 2 + e^{-i2\omega_{1}t})$$





$$4E_{in}^{2} = (e^{i2\omega_{1}t} - 2 + e^{-i2\omega_{1}t}) + 2(e^{i(\omega_{1}+\omega_{2})t} - e^{-i(\omega_{1}-\omega_{2})t} - e^{i(\omega_{1}-\omega_{2})t} + e^{-i(\omega_{1}+\omega_{2})t}) + (e^{i2\omega_{1}t} - 2 + e^{-i2\omega_{1}t})$$

Expanding the cube of the composite input signal

$$C \cdot E_{in}^{3} = C(\sin(\omega_{1}t) + \sin(\omega_{2}t))^{3}$$
$$E_{in}^{3} = (\sin(\omega_{1}t))^{3} + 3(\sin(\omega_{1}t))^{2}(\sin(\omega_{2}t)) + 3(\sin(\omega_{1}t))(\sin(\omega_{2}t))^{2} + (\sin(\omega_{2}t))^{3}$$

$$8 \cdot E_{in}^{3} = (e^{i\omega_{1}t} - e^{-i\omega_{1}t})^{3} + 3(e^{i\omega_{1}t} - e^{-i\omega_{1}t})^{2}(e^{i\omega_{2}t} - e^{-i\omega_{2}t}) + 3(e^{i\omega_{1}t} - e^{-i\omega_{1}t})(e^{i\omega_{2}t} - e^{-i\omega_{2}t})^{2} + (e^{i\omega_{2}t} - e^{-i\omega_{2}t})^{3}$$

$$8 \cdot E_{in}{}^{3} = e^{i3\omega_{1}t} - 3e^{i\omega_{1}t} + 3e^{-i\omega_{1}t} - e^{-i3\omega_{1}t} + 3(e^{i2\omega_{1}t} - 2 + e^{-i2\omega_{1}t})(e^{i\omega_{2}t} - e^{-i\omega_{2}t}) + 3(e^{i\omega_{1}t} - e^{-i\omega_{1}t})(e^{i2\omega_{2}t} - 2 + e^{-i2\omega_{2}t}) + e^{i3\omega_{2}t} - 3e^{i\omega_{2}t} + 3e^{-i\omega_{2}t} - e^{-i3\omega_{2}t}$$

$$8 \cdot E_{in}^{3} = e^{i3\omega_{1}t} - 3e^{i\omega_{1}t} + 3e^{-i\omega_{1}t} - e^{-i3\omega_{1}t} + 3(e^{i\omega_{2}t}e^{i2\omega_{1}t} - 2e^{i\omega_{2}t} + e^{i\omega_{2}t}e^{-i2\omega_{1}t} - e^{-i\omega_{2}t}e^{i2\omega_{1}t} + 2e^{-i\omega_{2}t} - e^{-i\omega_{2}t}e^{-i2\omega_{1}t}) + 3(e^{i\omega_{1}t}e^{i2\omega_{2}t} - 2e^{i\omega_{1}t} + e^{i\omega_{1}t}e^{-i2\omega_{2}t} - e^{-i\omega_{1}t}e^{i2\omega_{2}t} + 2e^{-i\omega_{1}t} - e^{-i\omega_{1}t}e^{-i2\omega_{2}t}) + e^{i3\omega_{2}t} - 3e^{i\omega_{2}t} + 3e^{-i\omega_{2}t} - e^{-i3\omega_{2}t}$$

$$8 \cdot E_{in}^{3} = e^{i3\omega_{1}t} - 3e^{i\omega_{1}t} + 3e^{-i\omega_{1}t} - e^{-i3\omega_{1}t} + (3e^{i(2\omega_{1}+\omega_{2})t} - 6e^{i\omega_{2}t} + 3e^{-i(2\omega_{1}-\omega_{2})t} - 3e^{i(2\omega_{1}-\omega_{2})t} + 6e^{-i\omega_{2}t} - 3e^{-i(2\omega_{1}+\omega_{2})t}) + (3e^{i(2\omega_{2}+\omega_{1})t} - 6e^{i\omega_{1}t} + 3e^{-i(2\omega_{2}-\omega_{1})t} - 3e^{i(2\omega_{2}-\omega_{1})t} + 6e^{-i\omega_{1}t} - 3e^{-i(2\omega_{2}+\omega_{1})t}) + e^{i3\omega_{2}t} - 3e^{i\omega_{2}t} + 3e^{-i\omega_{2}t} - e^{-i3\omega_{2}t}$$

Therefore, by expressing ω as $2\pi f$ and analyzing the first second and third order distortion, we have that the frequency components in E_{out} are: f₁, f₂, 2f₁, 2f₂, 3f₁, 3f₂, f₁+f₂, f₁-f₂, f₂-f₁, 2f₁-f₂, 2f₂-f₁, 2f₁+f₂, 2f₂+f₁